

ARTICLE 11
LABOR AND EMPLOYMENT

(As Last Amended by Ord. 17-028)

Published by
BALTIMORE CITY DEPARTMENT OF LEGISLATIVE REFERENCE
Avery Aisenstark, Director
2017

Copyright © 2017
The Mayor and City Council of Baltimore
Department of Legislative Reference
All rights reserved

For information – call, write, or fax:

Department of Legislative Reference
626 City Hall
Baltimore, Maryland 21202
Tel: (410) 396-4730 • Fax: (410) 396-8483

TABLE OF SUBTITLES

DIVISION I. MINIMUM WAGE LAW

- Subtitle 1. Definitions; General Provisions**
- Subtitle 2. Wage Commission**
- Subtitle 3. Wage Requirements**
- Subtitle 4. Enforcement Procedures**
- Subtitle 5. Other Prohibited Conduct**
- Subtitle 6. Penalties and Fines**
- Subtitles 7 to 10. *{Reserved}***

DIVISION II. MISCELLANEOUS REGULATIONS

- Subtitle 11. Lie Detector Tests**
- Subtitle 12. Temporary Help Businesses**
- Subtitle 13. Labor Peace Agreements for Hotel Projects**
- Subtitle 14. Mandatory Bicycle Parking**
- Subtitle 15. Fair Criminal-Record Screening Practices**
- Subtitle 16. *{Reserved}***
- Subtitle 17. Retaliation for Human Trafficking Reports**
- Subtitle 18. Displaced Service Workers Protection**

TABLE OF SECTIONS

DIVISION I ***MINIMUM WAGE LAW***

SUBTITLE 1 **DEFINITIONS; GENERAL PROVISIONS**

- § 1-1. Definitions.
- § 1-2. Findings; policy.
- § 1-3. Severability.

SUBTITLE 2 **WAGE COMMISSION**

- § 2-1. Commission established.
- § 2-2. Members.
- § 2-3. Voting; quorum.
- § 2-4. Chair, staff, and expenses.
- § 2-5. General powers and duties.
- § 2-6. Rules and regulations.

SUBTITLE 3 **WAGE REQUIREMENTS**

- § 3-1. Minimum wage required.
- § 3-2. Exceptions.
- § 3-3. Overtime pay required.
- § 3-4. Withholding.
- § 3-5. Wages due on termination of employment.
- § 3-6. Posting summary of law.
- § 3-7. Notices to employees.
- § 3-8. Payroll records.

SUBTITLE 4 **ENFORCEMENT PROCEDURES**

- § 4-1. Complaints by employee.
- § 4-2. Complaints by Commission.
- § 4-3. Investigation for probable cause.
- § 4-4. Subpoenas; oaths.
- § 4-5. Dismissal for lack of probable cause.
- § 4-6. Probable cause conference; settlement agreement.
- § 4-7. Final order.
- § 4-8. Judicial and appellate review.
- § 4-9. Referral to Solicitor.
- § 4-10. Confidential information.
- § 4-11. Disposition of unclaimed recoveries.

SUBTITLE 5 **OTHER PROHIBITED CONDUCT**

- § 5-1. By employer - retaliation against employee.
- § 5-2. By employer - violation of rule or regulation.
- §§ 5-3 to 5-5. *{Reserved}*
- § 5-6. By employees.

SUBTITLE 6 **PENALTIES AND FINES**

- § 6-1. Interest on unpaid wages.
- § 6-2. Fines.
- § 6-3. Actions by employee.

SUBTITLES 7 TO 10 ***{RESERVED}***

DIVISION II ***MISCELLANEOUS REGULATIONS***

SUBTITLE 11 **LIE DETECTOR TESTS**

- § 11-1. "Employer" defined.
- § 11-2. Prohibited conduct.
- § 11-3. Penalties.

SUBTITLE 12 **TEMPORARY HELP BUSINESSES**

- § 12-1. Construction of subtitle.
- § 12-2. Supplying labor during work stoppage or strike.
- § 12-3. Penalties.

SUBTITLE 13 **LABOR PEACE AGREEMENTS FOR HOTEL PROJECTS**

- § 13-1. Definitions.
- § 13-2. Findings and declarations.
- § 13-3. Scope of subtitle.
- § 13-4. Construction of subtitle.
- § 13-5. *{Reserved}*
- § 13-6. Determining need.
- § 13-7. Agreement required.
- § 13-8. Tenor and contents.
- § 13-9. Agreement violation by union.
- §§ 13-10 to 13-15. *{Reserved}*
- § 13-16. Notice of subtitle.

SUBTITLE 14 **MANDATORY BICYCLE PARKING**

- § 14-1. Definitions.
- § 14-2. Rules and regulations.
- §§ 14-3 to 14-5. *{Reserved}*
- § 14-6. Required bicycle parking.
- § 14-7. Specifications.
- §§ 14-8 to 14-10. *{Reserved}*
- § 14-11. Penalties.

LABOR AND EMPLOYMENT

SUBTITLE 15
FAIR CRIMINAL-RECORD SCREENING PRACTICES

Part 1. Definitions; General Provisions

- § 15-1. Definitions.
- § 15-2. Findings; Intent and purpose.
- § 15-3. Construction.
- §§ 15-3 to 15-5. *{Reserved}*

Part 2. Prohibited Conduct

- § 15-6. Preliminary inquiries into criminal record.
- § 15-7. Exceptions.
- §§ 15-8 to 15-10. *{Reserved}*

Part 3. Administrative Enforcement; Penalties

- § 15-11. Complaint to Community Relations Comm'n.
- § 15-12. Judicial and appellate review.
- § 15-13. Retaliation or discrimination prohibited.
- §§ 15-14 to 15-15. *{Reserved}*
- § 15-16. Criminal penalties.

SUBTITLE 16
{RESERVED}

SUBTITLE 17
RETALIATION FOR HUMAN TRAFFICKING REPORTS

- § 17-1. Definitions.
- § 17-2. *{Reserved}*
- § 17-3. Retaliation or discrimination prohibited.
- §§ 17-4 to 17-5. *{Reserved}*
- § 17-6. Criminal penalties.

SUBTITLE 18
DISPLACED SERVICE WORKERS PROTECTION

- § 18-1. Definitions.
- § 18-2. Rules and regulations.
- § 18-3. Transition employment period.
- § 18-4. *{Reserved}*
- § 18-5. Subtitle not bar to contract termination.
- § 18-6. Retaliation against employees prohibited.
- § 18-7. Enforcement procedures.
- § 18-8. Penalties and fines.
- § 18-9. Severability.

DIVISION I: MINIMUM WAGE LAW**SUBTITLE 1
DEFINITIONS; GENERAL PROVISIONS****§ 1-1. Definitions.**(a) *In general.*

The terms hereinafter set forth, wherever used in this Division I, are defined as follows.

(b) *Employ.*

“Employ” means to permit to work.

(c) *Employer.*

(1) “Employer” means any person, individual, partnership, association, corporation, business trust, or any other organized group or successor of an individual, partnership, association, corporation, trust of persons employing 2 or more persons in the City of Baltimore.

(2) “Employer” shall not include the United States, any State, or any political subdivision thereof.

(d) *Employee.*

(1) “Employee” means any person permitted or instructed to work or be present by an employer.

(2) “Employee” shall not include:

(i) persons engaged in the activities of an educational, charitable, religious, or other nonprofit organization where the services rendered to such organization are on a voluntary basis, or in return for charitable aid conferred upon such person;

(ii) persons employed in a bona fide executive, supervisory, or professional capacity;

(iii) persons employed by any member of their immediate family;

(iv) persons compensated upon a commission basis only; or

(v) persons employed as domestics within a home, only to the extent that such persons have been exempted from the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act as amended and as hereafter amended.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §52; 1976/83, art. 19, §64.) (Ord. 64-370; Ord. 65-491; Ord. 66-739; Ord. 67-1219; Ord. 70-798; Ord. 75-969; Ord. 78-778; Ord. 90-601.)

§ 1-2. Findings; policy.(a) *Findings of fact.*

The Mayor and City Council, after conducting an investigation of employment conditions in the City of Baltimore, hereby find:

- (1) that many persons employed in Baltimore are paid wages which, in relation to the cost of living in the City and the income necessary to sustain minimum standards of decent living conditions, are insufficient to provide adequate maintenance for themselves and their families;
- (2) that the employment of such persons at such wages:
 - (i) impairs the health, efficiency, and well-being of the persons so employed and of their families;
 - (ii) reduces the purchasing power of such persons;
 - (iii) diminishes and depresses business, trade, and industry in the City;
 - (iv) threatens the stability and well-being of the City's economic life;
 - (v) fosters and contributes toward slum conditions and housing evils;
 - (vi) creates conditions of want and deprivation tending to weaken and undermine family life and breed crime and juvenile delinquency;
 - (vii) threatens the health, welfare, and well-being of the people of the City; and
 - (viii) injures the City economically.

(b) *Declaration of policy.*

- (1) Accordingly, it is the declared policy of the Mayor and City Council that such conditions be eliminated as rapidly as practicable without substantially curtailing opportunities for employment or earning power.
- (2) To that end, legislation is necessary in the public interest in order to end these conditions so inimical to the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Baltimore, to establish minimum wage standards for all employees as herein defined at a level consistent with their health, welfare, and general well-being.

(*City Code, 1966, art. 19, §61; 1976/83, art. 19, §71.*) (Ord. 66-739.)

§ 1-3. Severability.

If any provision of this Division I or the application thereof to any person or circumstances is held invalid, the remainder of the Division I and the application thereof to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §61; 1976/83, art. 19, §71.) (Ord. 66-739.)

SUBTITLE 2
WAGE COMMISSION

§ 2-1. Commission established.

There is hereby created and established the Wage Commission of Baltimore City, with the membership, powers, and duties as in this Division I provided, which shall be responsible for the administration and proper operation of the minimum wage law.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §54(a); 1976/83, art. 19, §62(a).) (Ord. 64-370; Ord. 78-778.)

§ 2-2. Members.

(a) *In general.*

The Commission comprises 5 persons of integrity and experience, who shall be appointed by the Mayor subject to the approval of the City Council.

(b) *Vacancies.*

If a vacancy occurs on the Commission, the vacancy shall be filled for the unexpired term in the same manner as the office was previously filled.

(c) *Oath.*

Each member of the Commission, within 10 days after appointment, shall take an oath of office that so far as it devolves upon him or her, she or he will diligently and honestly administer the affairs of the Commission, and the oath shall be subscribed to by the member making it and certified by the Mayor before whom it is taken.

(d) *Compensation; expenses.*

The Commission members shall serve without compensation, but shall be reimbursed for all expenses necessarily incurred.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §54(b); 1976/83, art. 19, §62(b).) (Ord. 370, 1964-65; Ord. 67-1219; Ord. 99-526.)

§ 2-3. Voting; quorum.

(a) *1 vote per member.*

Each member of the Commission shall be entitled to 1 vote.

(b) *Majority a quorum.*

A majority of said Commission shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of any business, the exercise of any power in the performance of any duty authorized or imposed by this Division I.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §54(c); 1976/83, art. 19, §62(c).) (Ord. 64-370.)

§ 2-4. Chair, staff, and expenses.(a) *Chair.*

The Mayor shall designate 1 member of the Commission as its chairman.

(b) *Director.*

The Commission shall, by a majority vote of all its members, appoint an executive director.

(c) *Staff.*

It shall employ such other persons as may be required to administer effectively the provisions of this Division I.

(d) *Compensation; expenses.*

Compensation of all persons so employed by the Commission and all other necessary expenses of the Commission shall be paid at such rates and in such amounts as the Board of Estimates shall approve and in accordance with the appropriations in the annual Ordinance of Estimates.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §54(d); 1976/83, art. 19, §62(d).) (Ord. 64-370.)

§ 2-5. General powers and duties.

The Commission is authorized to and shall have the power to:

- (1) formulate and carry out a comprehensive educational and action program designed to eliminate the payment of substandard wages to employees in the City of Baltimore;
- (2) receive, investigate, and take action as herein provided on all complaints of payment of less than the minimum wage required by this Division I;
- (3) conduct such investigations on its own initiative as it deems proper to effectuate the purposes of this Division I;
- (4) monitor and assist in the fulfillment of any agreements negotiated with employers to effect their compliance with this Division I;
- (5) make appropriate findings as a result of any of its investigations; and
- (6) in carrying out its powers and duties, inspect payroll records of any business without prior notice.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §55(1) - (3); 1976/83, art. 19, § 63(1) - (3), (7).) (Ord. 64-370; Ord. 66-739; Ord. 67-1219; Ord. 70-798; Ord. 90-601.)

§ 2-6. Rules and regulations.

(a) *Commission may adopt.*

The Commission is authorized to and shall have the power to adopt such rules and regulations as it may deem necessary to:

- (1) effect compliance with this Division I;
- (2) govern its procedures; and
- (3) execute the duties and responsibilities imposed on it herein.

(b) *Scope.*

Such rules and regulations may include, but are not limited to:

- (1) those further defining:
 - (i) persons engaged in voluntary service to a nonprofit organization;
 - (ii) persons employed in a bona fide executive, supervisory, or professional capacity;
 - (iii) persons employed by any member of their immediate family; and
 - (iv) persons compensated upon a commission basis; and
- (2) those:
 - (i) establishing deductions in allowance for the reasonable value of uniforms, board, lodging, or other facilities, items, or services supplied by the employer;
 - (ii) defining students and employees customarily receiving tips; and
 - (iii) defining handicapped persons,

for the purposes of § 3-2 of this Division I.

(c) *Publication.*

All rules and regulations so adopted shall be:

- (1) published by the Commission as soon as possible after their adoption; and
- (2) made available, without charge, to any persons requesting them.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §55(4); 1976/83, art. 19, §63(4).) (Ord. 64-370; Ord. 66-739; Ord. 67-1219; Ord. 70-798; Ord. 78-778.)

SUBTITLE 3
WAGE REQUIREMENTS

§ 3-1. Minimum wage required.

(a) *Employers must pay.*

Subject to the other provisions of this Division I, every employer operating and doing business in Baltimore City shall pay wages to each employee in the City at a rate not less than the minimum wage required by the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act, as amended.

(b) *Violations.*

It is a violation of this Division I for any employer to pay any employee a wage less than the minimum wage required by this Division I, and it is a separate violation each time an employee is not paid the wage required by this Division I at the time the employee is entitled to be paid. (*City Code, 1966, art. 19, §53(1st cl.); 1976/83, art. 19, §65(a.) (Ord. 64-370; Ord. 67-1219; Ord. 70-798; Ord. 74-698; Ord. 78-778; Ord. 90-601; Ord. 97-167.)*)

§ 3-2. Exceptions.

(a) *Allowance for employer-supplied items or services.*

- (1) For purposes of this Division I, wages shall include the reasonable value, as determined by the Wage Commission, of uniforms, board, lodging, or other facilities, items, or services furnished such employee by the employer.
- (2) Provided that the Wage Commission is empowered to determine such value by reference to the average cost to the employer or to groups of employers similarly situated.

(b) *Full-time students.*

- (1) Any employee who is a full-time student in a primary or secondary school, as such term is further defined by the Wage Commission, may be paid 85% of the minimum wage prescribed herein.
- (2) Provided, however, that such students may not be employed for more than 28 hours per week while attending school.
- (3) It shall be a violation of this Division I for any employer to employ such a full-time student for more than 28 hours per week while school is in session.

(c) *Work-study programs.*

Students enrolled in an approved work-study program shall be exempt from the limitations of subsection (b) of this section and from the minimum wage requirements of this Division I. Work study programs must be approved by the Wage Commission.

(d) *Employees customarily receiving tips.*

- (1) With respect to any employee engaged in an occupation in which he customarily and regularly receives more than \$30 a month in tips, the employer shall pay wages in the amount not less than the amount required to be paid a tipped employee under the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act, as amended.
- (2) It is the employer's obligation to provide evidence of any amount claimed by him as being received by his employee as tips.

(e) *Employees with disabilities.*

- (1) The Wage Commission may, in its discretion, recognize certificates issued by the State of Maryland for payment of less than the minimum wage to persons who are mentally or physically handicapped, or the Commission may issue its own certificates.
- (2) Provided, that the Commission's said recognition or certification may be upon such terms and for such period of time as the Commission deems appropriate.

(f) *Opportunity wages.*

An employer may pay an opportunity wage (i.e., a wage below the minimum wage) to any employee, but only under the conditions and limitations authorized for opportunity wages by the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act, as amended.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §53(2nd cl.); 1976/83, art. 19, §65(b) - (f).) (Ord. 67-1219; Ord. 70-798; Ord. 70-926; Ord. 74-698; Ord. 78-778; Ord. 90-601; Ord. 97-167.)

§ 3-3. Overtime pay required.(a) *In general.*

Every employer shall pay each of its employees, for all hours worked in excess of 40 during any work week, at a rate which is 1½ times the employee's usual hourly wage rate, except that no employer will be liable for overtime pay to an employee under this section to a greater extent than it is liable to such employee under the Maryland Wage and Hour Law (Title 3, Subtitle 4 of the State Labor and Employment Article) or the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act (29 U.S.C. §§ 201 - 219).

(b) *Governing standards.*

- (1) Except that any gross receipts dollar volume limitation to coverage contained in the Maryland Wage and Hour Law or the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act will not be applicable hereunder.
- (2) For purposes of this section, an employee's "usual hourly wage rate" and "work week" shall be determined under the provisions of the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act unless his employer is not subject to that Act, in which case such determinations shall be made under the provisions of the Minimum Wage Act of the State of Maryland.

(c) *Violations.*

It shall be a violation of this Division I for any employer to pay any employee a wage below the minimum overtime wage set forth herein, and it shall be deemed a separate violation each work week an employee is not paid the wage required by this Division I at the time the employee is entitled to be paid.

(*City Code, 1976/83, art. 19, §67.*) (*Ord. 78-778; 90-601.*)

§ 3-4. Withholding.

(a) *Required consent.*

No employer shall withhold any part of the wages or salary of any employee, except for those deductions in accordance with law, without written and signed authorization of the employee.

(b) *Violations.*

It shall be a violation of this Division I for any employer to make any such prohibited withholding from the pay of any employee, and it shall be deemed a separate violation when any such prohibited withholding is made from any paycheck of any employee.

(*City Code, 1976/83, art. 19, §68(b)(4).*) (*Ord. 78-778; Ord. 90-601.*)

§ 3-5. Wages due on termination of employment.

It shall be a violation of this Division I for any employer to refuse to pay to any employee who is terminated, resigns, retires, or who otherwise ends or suspends his employment, all wages due and owing to said employee on the next regular payday that said wages would otherwise have been paid.

(*City Code, 1976/83, art. 19, §66.*) (*Ord. 78-778; Ord. 90-601.*)

§ 3-6. Posting summary of law.

(a) *Employer to post.*

Every employer subject to this Division I shall keep a summary of this Division I, furnished by the Commission without charge, posted in a conspicuous place on or about the premises wherein any person subject to this Division I is employed.

(b) *Violations.*

Failure to so post said summary shall be deemed a violation of this Division I.

(*City Code, 1966, art. 19, §58; 1976/83, art. 19, §69.*) (*Ord. 64-370; Ord. 78-778; Ord. 90-601.*)

§ 3-7. Notices to employees.

(a) *Time of hiring.*

(1) Every employer subject to this Division I shall notify his employees at the time of hiring of:

- (i) their respective rates of pay; and
- (ii) the regular payday designated by the employer.

(2) Any employer who fails to so notify his employees shall be in violation of this Division I, and it shall be deemed a separate violation as to each employee not notified as required herein.

(b) *Changes in rates or paydays.*

(1) Every employer subject to this Division I shall notify his employees of any changes in the pay rates or payday at least 1 pay period prior to the change.

(2) It shall be a violation of this Division I for any employer to change the pay rate or payday of any employee without giving to said employee notice as required herein.

(c) *Itemized pay statement.*

(1) Every employer subject to this Division I shall furnish each employee with a statement each pay period which shall, in each instance, clearly show:

- (i) gross earnings;
- (ii) itemized deductions;
- (iii) hours worked; and
- (iv) rate of pay.

(2) It shall be a violation of this Division I for any employer to fail to provide any employee with the statement required herein, and it shall be deemed a separate violation any time the statement required herein is not provided to any employee.

(City Code, 1976/83, art. 19, §68(b)(1) - (3).) (Ord. 78-778; Ord. 90-601.)

§ 3-8. Payroll records.

(a) *Required information; maintenance period.*

(1) Every employer subject to this Division I shall keep, for a period of not less than 3 years, a true and accurate record of the:

- (i) name,
- (ii) social security number,
- (iii) address at time of employment,
- (iv) occupation,

(v) time worked each day, and

(vi) rate of pay

for each of his employees.

(2) Any employer who fails to maintain such records shall be in violation of this Division I, and it shall be deemed a separate violation thereof as to each employee for whom records are not fully maintained.

(b) *Right of inspection.*

(1) The Commission or its authorized representative shall have the right, at all reasonable times, to enter upon the premises of any employer to inspect such records to ascertain whether the provisions of this Division I have been complied with.

(2) It shall be a violation of this Division I to prevent, obstruct, or to attempt to prevent or obstruct such entries and inspections.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §57; 1976/83, art. 19, §68(a).) (Ord. 64-370; Ord. 66-739; Ord. 67-1219; Ord. 70-798; Ord. 75-969; Ord. 78-778; Ord. 90-601.)

SUBTITLE 4
ENFORCEMENT PROCEDURES

§ 4-1. Complaints by employee.

(a) *Filing with Commission.*

Any person claiming to be aggrieved by an alleged payment of a wage of a lesser amount than required by this Division I may, by himself or his attorney, within 1 year after the occurrence of the alleged unlawful act, make, sign, and file with the Commission a complaint in writing, under oath.

(b) *Contents.*

The complaint shall state the name and address of the employer alleged to have paid the unlawful wage (hereinafter referred to as the respondent) and the particulars thereof, and contain such other information as may be required by the Commission.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §56(a)(1st, 2nd sens.); 1976/83, art. 19, §70(a)(1st, 2nd sens.). (Ord. 64-370; Ord. 66-739.)

§ 4-2. Complaints by Commission.

The Commission shall have the right, acting upon its own initiative and without any complaint from an employee, to file a complaint against an employer whenever the Commission has reasonable cause to believe that such employer is or has been in violation of the provisions of this Division I.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §56(a)(3rd sen.); 1976/83, art. 19, §70(a)(3rd sen.). (Ord. 64-370; Ord. 66-739.)

§ 4-3. Investigation for probable cause.

After the filing of any such complaint, either by a person claiming to be aggrieved as set forth in § 4-1 or by the Commission, the Commission shall:

(1) investigate the facts alleged therein; and

(2) make a finding of probable cause for the said complaint or lack of it.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §56(b)(1st sen.); 1976/83, art. 19, §70(b)(1st sen.). (Ord. 64-370; Ord. 66-739.)

§ 4-4. Subpoenas; oaths.

(a) *Commission may issue.*

In enforcing this Division I, the Commission may:

- (1) issue subpoenas to compel the attendance and testimony of witnesses and the production of books, papers, records, and documents relating to payroll records, or necessary for hearings, investigations, or proceedings; and
- (2) administer oaths, subject to the penalties for perjury, to all witnesses.

(b) *Service.*

Any such subpoena shall be served by:

- (1) the Sheriff of Baltimore City or any of his deputies; or
- (2) any other person authorized by the Maryland Rules of Procedure to effectuate in personam service.

(c) *Enforcement.*

- (1) In case of disobedience to a subpoena, the Commission may apply to a court of appropriate jurisdiction for an order requiring the attendance and testimony of witnesses and the production of books, papers, records, and documents.
- (2) Said court, in case of contumacy or refusal to obey any such subpoena, after notice to the person subpoenaed, and upon finding that the attendance or testimony of such witnesses or the production of such books, papers, records, and documents, as the case may be, is relevant or necessary for such hearings, investigations, or proceedings of the Commission, may issue an order requiring the attendance and testimony of such witnesses and the production of such books, papers, records, and documents, or any of them.
- (3) Any failure to obey such order of the court may be punished by the court as contempt thereof.

(*City Code, 1966, art. 19, §55(5); 1976/83, art. 19, §63(5).*) (*Ord. 64-370; Ord. 66-739; Ord. 67-1219; Ord. 90-601; Ord. 04-672.*)

§ 4-5. Dismissal for lack of probable cause.

If the finding of the Commission is that the complaint lacks probable cause, then it shall dismiss said complaint and mail copies of its finding to respondent and complainant.

(*City Code, 1966, art. 19, §56(b)(2nd sen.); 1976/83, art. 19, §70(b)(2nd sen).*) (*Ord. 64-370; Ord. 66-739.*)

§ 4-6. Probable cause conference; settlement agreement.

(a) *Conference.*

If the Commission finds probable cause for the complaint, the Commission shall attempt, by means of conference, to:

- (1) persuade respondent to cease and desist its illegal action;

- (2) commence paying complainant such lawful wages as are required by this Division I; and
- (3) reimburse complainant for the difference between what he had been receiving as wages and what he should have lawfully received.

(b) *Settlement agreement.*

Any such agreement reached between respondent and the Commission shall be reduced to writing and a copy thereof furnished to complainant and respondent.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §56(b)(3rd, 4th sens.); 1976/83, art. 19, §70(b)(3rd, 4th sens.). (Ord. 64-370; Ord. 66-739.)

§ 4-7. Final order.

(a) *In general.*

If:

- (1) the Commission and the respondent shall fail to reach agreement, or
- (2) the respondent shall fail to meet his obligations under such agreement:
 - (i) within 30 days thereof, or
 - (ii) within such other time as may be specified therein,

the Commission shall make such final order in the proceedings as it deems appropriate to:

- (3) require the payment of all wages due the respondent's employees hereunder, and
- (4) direct the cessation of all practices by the respondent which are contrary to the provisions of this Division I and/or rules and regulations of the Commission.

(b) *Service of order.*

A copy of such order shall be furnished the respondent by registered mail within 3 days of its passage.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §56(c); 1976/83, art. 19, §70(c). (Ord. 64-370; Ord. 66-739.)

§ 4-8. Judicial and appellate review.

(a) *Judicial review.*

A respondent aggrieved by an order of the Commission may seek judicial review of that order by petition to the Circuit Court for Baltimore City in accordance with the Maryland Rules of Procedure.

(b) *Appellate review.*

A party to the judicial review may appeal the court's final judgment to the Court of Special Appeals in accordance with the Maryland Rules of Procedure.
(*City Code, 1976/83, art. 19, §70(d)(2nd sen.*.) (Ord. 70-798; Ord. 04-672.)

§ 4-9. Referral to Solicitor.

If, within 30 days of the passage of such order, the respondent shall have failed to comply therewith, the Wage Commission may certify such proceedings to the City Solicitor and request that he petition the Circuit Court of Baltimore City to enforce the said order and direct payment to the aggrieved employee.
(*City Code, 1976/83, art. 19, §70(d)(1st sen.*.) (Ord. 70-798; Ord. 78-778.)

§ 4-10. Confidential information.(a) *Employer's payroll.*

The records of the Commission in any proceeding or investigation made pursuant to the provisions of this Division I shall be kept confidential to the extent that they disclose the payroll of any employer, except for the use of a complainant employee or other public agency.

(b) *Identity of complainant.*

(1) Neither the Commission nor any of its employees may be compelled in any hearing before the Commission or other administrative proceeding, to disclose the identity of any person filing a complaint with the Commission under the provisions of this Division I.

(2) The Commission shall, however, have the right in its sole discretion to make such disclosure in any instance where the Commission deems it appropriate to do so.

(*City Code, 1966, art. 19, §55(6); 1976/83, art. 19, §§63(6), 68(a)(3).*) (Ord. 64-370; Ord. 66-739; Ord. 67-1219; Ord. 70-798; Ord. 75-969; Ord. 78-778; Ord. 90-601.)

§ 4-11. Disposition of unclaimed recoveries.

Any sums recovered by the Wage Commission for Baltimore City and not paid to the employee because of inability to locate said employee within a period of 1 year shall be paid into the Treasury of the City of Baltimore.
(*City Code, 1976/83, art. 19, §70A(d)(2).*) (Ord. 90-601.)

**SUBTITLE 5
OTHER PROHIBITED CONDUCT**

§ 5-1. By employer - retaliation against employee.

(a) *In general.*

It shall be unlawful, and a violation of this Division I, for any employer to discharge or reduce the compensation of any employee for:

- (1) making a complaint to the Wage Commission;
- (2) participating in any of its proceedings; or
- (3) availing himself of any of the civil remedies provided herein.

(b) *Restitution or reinstatement with backpay.*

In such a case, the Wage Commission may, pursuant to the procedures provided in Subtitle 4 hereof, order appropriate restitution or the reinstatement of such employee with backpay to the date of violation.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §56(d); 1976/83, art. 19, §70A(a).) (Ord. 67-1219; Ord. 70-798; Ord. 78-778; Ord. 90-601.)

§ 5-2. By employer - violation of rule or regulation.

It shall be unlawful, and a violation of this Division I, for any employer to violate the rules and regulations of the Commission.

(City Code, 1976/83, art. 19, §70A(c).) (Ord. 90-601.)

§§ 5-3 to 5-5. {Reserved}

§ 5-6. By employees.

It shall be unlawful, and a violation of this Division I, for any employee to:

- (1) make any groundless, unfounded, or malicious complaint to the Commission; or
- (2) in bad faith, institute or testify in any proceeding before the Commission under the provisions hereof.

(City Code, 1976/83, art. 19, §70A(b).) (Ord. 90-601.)

SUBTITLE 6
PENALTIES AND FINES

§ 6-1. Interest on unpaid wages.

(a) *In general.*

Any employer who commits a violation of any of the provisions of this Division I shall be liable to the employee or employees affected:

- (1) in the amount of their unpaid minimum wages, wages due, or overtime compensation, as the case may be; and
- (2) an additional amount of 10% per annum interest on unpaid minimum wages, wages due, or overtime compensation.

(b) *Computation of interest.*

Such interest shall be calculated from the date of the violation resulting in the unpaid minimum wage, unpaid wages due, or unpaid overtime compensation until the date said monies are actually paid to the aggrieved employee.

(*City Code, 1976/83, art. 19, §70A(d)(1).*) (*Ord. 90-601.*)

§ 6-2. Fines.

Any employer or employee who violates this Division I shall forfeit and pay to the City of Baltimore a penalty as follows:

- (1) for a 1st offense, \$250 for each violation;
- (2) for a 2nd offense, \$500 for each violation; and
- (3) for each subsequent offense, \$1,000 for each violation.

(*City Code, 1966, art. 19, §59; 1976/83, art. 19, §70A(d)(3).*) (*Ord. 64-370; Ord. 90-601; Ord. 08-084.*)

§ 6-3. Actions by employee.

(a) *In general.*

Nothing contained in this Division I shall be in any way construed to limit or abridge any rights possessed by any employee at common law, by statute, or by ordinance to bring a civil action to redress underpayments of wages.

(b) *Civil action by employee.*

- (1) Any employee who is aggrieved by underpayment or other violations of this Division I shall be entitled to bring such an action, and to recover therein such costs and reasonable counsel fees as the Court may allow.

(2) Any agreement between such employee and his employer to work for less than the minimum wage prescribed therein is invalid and shall be no defense to such action.

(3) Proceedings before the Wage Commission shall not be considered a precondition to such civil action.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §60; 1976/83, art. 19, §70B.) (Ord. 64-370; Ord. 70-798; Ord. 78-778; Ord. 90-601.)

SUBTITLES 7 TO 10
{RESERVED}

DIVISION II: MISCELLANEOUS REGULATIONS**SUBTITLE 11
LIE DETECTOR TESTS****§ 11-1. “Employer” defined.**

The term “employer” as used in this subtitle means every employer engaged in any business or enterprise in this City, other than the government of the State of Maryland, or of the Mayor and City Council of Baltimore.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §48(a); 1976/83, art. 19, §55(a).) (Ord. 65-555.)

§ 11-2. Prohibited conduct.**(a) *In general.***

No employer shall demand or require any applicant for employment or prospective employment or any employee to submit to take a polygraph, lie detector, or similar test or examination as a condition of employment or continued employment.

(b) *Exception for governmental entities.*

The prohibition of this section does not apply to the federal government or local subdivision thereof, including the Mayor and City Council of Baltimore.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §48(b); 1976/83, art. 19, §55(b).) (Ord. 65-555.)

§ 11-3. Penalties.

Any employer who violates the provisions of this subtitle shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and subject to a fine not to exceed \$500.

(City Code, 1966, art. 19, §48(c); 1976/83, art. 19, §55(c).) (Ord. 65-555.)

**SUBTITLE 12
TEMPORARY HELP BUSINESSES**

§ 12-1. Construction of subtitle.

This subtitle shall not in any way be interpreted to interfere with the rights of an employer as guaranteed by the National Labor Relations Act as amended.
(City Code, 1976/83, art. 19, §189(2nd par.).) (Ord. 72-216.)

§ 12-2. Supplying labor during work stoppage or strike.

(a) *Prohibited conduct.*

It shall be unlawful for any person, partnership, agency, firm, or corporation, or officer or agent thereof, conducting a temporary help business which consists of directly employing individuals for the purpose of furnishing temporary full-time or part-time help to others, to knowingly supply persons to perform labor in place of an employee involved in an authorized strike or work stoppage after the inception of said strike or work stoppage.

(b) *Exception for security or maintenance personnel.*

Provided, however, this prohibition shall not apply to supplying security or maintenance personnel necessary for the protection and preservation of life, health, and property.
(City Code, 1976/83, art. 19, §189(1st par.).) (Ord. 72-216.)

§ 12-3. Penalties.

Any person, firm, or corporation violating this subtitle shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be subject to a fine not to exceed \$500 or by imprisonment for a term of not more than 12 months, or both, at the discretion of the court.
(City Code, 1976/83, art. 19, §189(3rd par.).) (Ord. 72-216.)

SUBTITLE 13
LABOR PEACE AGREEMENTS FOR HOTEL PROJECTS

§ 13-1. Definitions.

(a) *In general.*

In this subtitle, the following terms have the meanings indicated.

(b) *Contract.*

“Contract” includes, but is not limited to, a lease, management agreement, service agreement, loan, bond, guarantee, or other similar agreement to which the City is a party.

(c) *Employer.*

(1) “Employer” means any person who employs individuals at the site of a hotel development project.

(2) “Employer” does not include any person:

- (i) who employs fewer than the equivalent of 15 full-time or part-time employees at a hotel development project;
- (ii) who has entered into 1 or more agreements with 1 or more labor organizations regarding the employees at the hotel development project who are, or are likely to be, the subject of union organizing, if the City determines that the agreement provides protection from the risks of labor-management conflict that is at least equal to the protection provided by the minimum terms of a labor peace agreement; or
- (iii) whose ongoing economic performance and potential for labor-management conflict at the site will not, in the City’s determination, substantially affect the City’s proprietary interest in the hotel development project.

(d) *Labor organization.*

“Labor organization” means an organization, agency, or employee- representation committee or plan:

- (1) in which employees participate; and
- (2) that exists for the purpose, in whole or in part, of dealing with employers concerning grievances, labor disputes, wages, rates of pay, hours of employment, or conditions of work.

(e) *Person.*

“Person” includes:

- (1) an individual;

(2) a partnership, firm, association, corporation, or other entity of any kind; and

(3) a receiver, trustee, guardian, personal representative, fiduciary, or representative of any kind.

(Ord. 07-578.)

§ 13-2. Findings and declarations.

(a) *City's risks and liabilities.*

In the course of managing real property that it owns or otherwise in carrying out its functions in the public interest, the City participates in developments, as a property owner, lessor, proprietor, lender, or guarantor, facing similar risks and liabilities as those faced by other business entities that participate in these ventures.

(b) *Proprietary interest requires prudent management.*

In these situations, the City:

(i) has an ongoing proprietary interest in the developments and a direct interest in their financial performance; and

(ii) must make prudent management decisions, similar to any private business entity, to ensure efficient management of its business concerns and to maximize benefits and minimize risks.

(c) *Risk of labor-management conflict.*

(1) One risk is the possibility of labor-management conflict.

(2) A major potential outcome of labor-management conflict is economic action by labor organizations against employers. Experience of municipal and other investors demonstrates, for example, that organizing drives under formal and adversarial union certification processes often deteriorate into protracted and acrimonious labor-management conflict.

(3) Labor-management conflict can:

(i) result in construction delays, work stoppages, picketing, strikes, consumer boycotts, and other forms of adverse economic pressure; and

(ii) adversely affect the City's financial or other proprietary business interest by causing delay in the completion of a project, by reducing the revenues or increasing the costs of the project, and by generating negative publicity.

(d) *Risks heightened in hotel industry.*

(1) These risks are heightened in the hotel industry, because this industry is so closely related to tourism, which is a linchpin of the City's economy.

- (2) Labor-management conflict in hotel development projects in which the City is an economic participant can jeopardize the operation of related tourist and commercial facilities, as well as the City's national reputation as a tourist and convention destination.

(e) *Reducing risk through labor peace agreement.*

One way of reducing the risk to the City's proprietary interests is to require, as a condition of the City's investment or other economic participation in a hotel development project, that employers participating in the project seek agreements with labor organizations in which the labor organizations agree to forbear from adverse economic action against the employers' operations.

(Ord. 07-578.)

§ 13-3. Scope of subtitle.

This subtitle does not apply to:

- (1) a hotel development project for which the City determines that the risk to the City's financial or other nonregulatory interest resulting from labor-management conflict is so minimal or speculative as not to warrant concern for the City's investment or other nonregulatory interest; or
- (2) a hotel development project for which the City determines that its proprietary interest is less than \$100,000.

(Ord. 07-578.)

§ 13-4. Construction of subtitle.

(a) *Union recognition.*

Nothing in this subtitle requires an employer to recognize a particular labor organization.

(b) *Collective bargaining agreement.*

Nothing in this subtitle requires an employer to enter into a collective bargaining agreement establishing the substantive terms and conditions of employment.

(c) *Labor policy.*

This subtitle is not intended, and may not be interpreted, to express any generally applicable policy regarding labor-management relations or to regulate those relations in any way.

(d) *Employee preference.*

This subtitle is not intended to favor any particular outcome in determining employee preference regarding union representation.

(Ord. 07-578.)

§ 13-5 {Reserved}

§ 13-6. Determining need for agreement.(a) *In general.*

For each hotel development project in which the City participates or has a financial interest, the City shall determine whether the City has a proprietary interest in the project.

Editor's Note: This subtitle was enacted by Ordinance 07-578, effective December 26, 2007. Section 4 of Ord. 07-578 provides that the subtitle "does not apply to any economic participation granted by the City before the effective date of this Ordinance".

(b) *Governing criteria.*

The City is deemed to have a proprietary interest in a hotel development project if the City determines that:

- (1) through a lease of real property that is owned by the City and used for the project, the City receives ongoing revenue, excluding government fees, tax revenue, assessment revenue, or similar fees and revenues, except for tax revenue under the circumstances specified in items (2) and (3) of this subsection;
- (2) ongoing revenues from the project, including incremental tax revenues generated by the project, are used to repay loans provided by the City to assist the development of the project;
- (3) ongoing revenues from the project, including incremental tax revenues generated by the project, are used to pay debt service on bonds provided by the City to assist the development of the project;
- (4) the City has significant assets at risk because it has agreed to underwrite or guarantee the development of the project or loans related to the project; or
- (5) the City has a significant ongoing economic and nonregulatory interest that is at risk in the project's financial success and is likely to be adversely affected by labor-management conflict, except that no interest is considered "economic and nonregulatory" if it arises from the exercise of regulatory or police powers, such as taxation (except as set forth in items (2) and (3) of this subsection), zoning, or the issuance of permits or licenses.

(Ord. 07-578.)

§ 13-7. Agreement required.(a) *"Economic participation" defined.*

In this section, "economic participation" means a lease, loan, financing, underwriting, guarantee, or other financial benefit described in § 13-6(b) of this subtitle.

(b) *When City to require.*

If the City determines that it has a proprietary interest in a hotel development project, then it shall require, as a condition of the City's economic participation, that each employer on the

project enter into 1 or more labor peace agreements with 1 or more labor organizations that represent, or seek to represent, workers on the project.

(c) *Default, etc., provisions.*

Any contract between the City and the beneficiary of the City's economic participation in a project may include provisions governing default, damages, or rescission that the City considers appropriate to assure that the requirements of this section are fully satisfied.

(Ord. 07-578.)

§ 13-8. Tenor and contents of agreement.

(a) *To be enforceable under LMRA.*

The labor peace agreement shall be a written agreement enforceable between the employer and the labor organization under § 301(a) of the Labor Management Relations Act of 1947, 29 U.S.C. § 185(a).

(b) *Minimum contents.*

The labor peace agreement shall contain, at a minimum, a provision prohibiting the labor organization and its members from engaging in any picketing, work stoppage, boycott, or other economic interference with any of the employer's operations in which the City has a proprietary interest, for the duration of that interest.

(Ord. 07-578.)

§ 13-9. Violation of agreement by union.

An employer that performs its obligations under a labor peace agreement is relieved of further obligation under the agreement if the labor organization engages in adverse economic action such as striking, picketing, or boycotting the employer.

(Ord. 07-578.)

§§ 13-10 to 13-15 {Reserved}

§ 13-16. Notice of subtitle.

(a) *Notice required.*

A request for proposals, invitation to bid, or similar document issued by the City regarding a hotel development project must include a reference to and summary of this subtitle.

(b) *No exemption for omission.*

Failure to include a reference or summary in a document does not exempt an employer otherwise subject to the requirements of this subtitle.

(Ord. 07-578.)

SUBTITLE 14
MANDATORY BICYCLE PARKING

§ 14-1. Definitions.

(a) *In general.*

In this subtitle, the following terms have the meanings indicated.

(b) *Bicycle.*

“Bicycle” has the meaning stated in § 11-104 {“Bicycle”} of the State Transportation Article.

(c) *Bicycle parking space.*

“Bicycle parking space” means a designated area, whether open or enclosed, that is used for the off-street parking of a bicycle.

(d) *Employer.*

“Employer” means any person who employs 10 or more full-time or part-time employees in the City of Baltimore.

(e) *Person.*

“Person” means:

(1) an individual;

(2) a partnership, firm, association, corporation, or other entity of any kind; and

(3) a receiver, trustee, guardian, personal representative, fiduciary, or representative of any kind.

(Ord. 10-383.)

§ 14-2. Rules and regulations.

(a) *DoT to adopt.*

The Director of Transportation may adopt rules and regulations to implement this subtitle.

(b) *Filing with Legislative Reference.*

A copy of all rules and regulations adopted under this subtitle must be filed with the Department of Legislative Reference before they become effective.

(Ord. 10-383.)

§ 14-6. Required bicycle parking.(a) *Scope.*

Bicycle parking spaces required by this subtitle are in addition to any parking spaces otherwise required by Title 16 {"Off-Street Parking and Loading"} of the Baltimore City Zoning Code.

(b) *General requirements.*

Every employer must provide its employees with the number of long-term and short-term parking spaces required by Baltimore City Zoning Code § 16-705 {"Required number of bicycle spaces"}.

(c) *Fractional spaces.*

When the application of this section results in a requirement for a fractional bicycle parking space:

(1) any fraction less than ½ may be disregarded; and

(2) any fraction of ½ or more counts as 1 bicycle parking space.

(*Ord. 10-383; Ord. 15-581.*)

§ 14-7. Specifications.(a) *Size and capacity.*

(1) Each bicycle parking space must be:

(i) for an outdoor space, at least 4 feet by 6 feet; and

(ii) for an enclosed space, at least 15 square feet of open floor area.

(2) Each bicycle parking space must be equipped with a bicycle rack or locker that can accommodate up to 2 bicycles per rack or locker.

(b) *Additional requirements.*

Each bicycle parking space must be:

(1) provided in a safe and secure location that is accessible to all employees;

(2) located on the premises of the employer's place of business; and

(3) clearly labeled as reserved for bicycle parking by employees.

(*Ord. 10-383.*)

§§ 14-8 to 14-10. {Reserved}

§ 14-11. Penalties.

Any employer who violates a provision of this subtitle or of a rule or regulation adopted under this subtitle is guilty of a misdemeanor and, on conviction, is subject to a fine of not more than \$500. (*Ord. 10-383.*)

SUBTITLE 15. FAIR CRIMINAL-RECORD SCREENING PRACTICES

Editor’s Note: This subtitle was enacted by Ordinance 14-221, effective August 13, 2014. The Ordinance proposed to designate the new subtitle as Subtitle 14, comprising § 14-1 *et seq.* However, because this article already contains a Subtitle 14, with sections similarly numbered, the new subtitle is codified here as Subtitle 15, comprising §§ 15-1 through 15-16.

Part 1. Definitions; General Provisions**§ 15-1. Definitions.**(a) *In general.*

In this subtitle, the following terms have the meanings indicated.

(b) *Applicant.*

“Applicant” means any individual who is being considered or who requests to be considered for employment in the City of Baltimore by a covered employer.

(c) *Conviction.*(1) *In general.*

“Conviction” means any sentence arising from a verdict or plea of guilty or nolo contendere.

(2) *Inclusions.*

“Conviction” includes:

- (i) a sentence of incarceration or fine; and
- (ii) a suspended sentence.

(d) *Covered employer; Employer.*

“Covered employer” or “employer” means any person that employs 10 or more full-time equivalent employees in the City of Baltimore.

(e) *Employment.*(1) *In general.*

“Employment” means:

- (i) any work for pay; and
- (ii) any form of vocational or educational training, with or without pay.

(2) *Inclusions.*

“Employment” includes:

- (i) contractual, temporary, seasonal, or contingent work; and
- (ii) work through the services of a temporary or other employment agency.

(f) *Includes; including.*

“Includes” or “including” means by way of illustration and not by way of limitation.

(g) *Inquiry.*

“Inquiry” means any direct or indirect conduct intended to gather information, using any mode of communication.

(h) *Person.*

(1) *In general.*

“Person” means:

- (i) an individual;
- (ii) a receiver, trustee, guardian, personal representative, fiduciary, or representative of any kind; or
- (iii) a partnership, firm, association, corporation, or other entity of any kind.

(2) *Exclusions.*

“Person” does not include a governmental entity or an instrumentality or unit of a governmental entity.

(Ord. 14-221.)

§ 15-2. Findings; Intent and purpose.

(a) *Findings.*

The Mayor and City Council of Baltimore finds that:

- (1) individuals with criminal records suffer from pervasive discrimination in many fundamental areas of life, including employment, housing, education, and eligibility for many forms of social benefits;
- (2) nationwide, the percentage of people of color who have criminal records exceeds the percentage of their representation in the population as a whole, which disproportionately impacts their lives, families, and communities;

- (3) many individuals with criminal records are job seekers who are ready and able to become part of and to contribute to the work force;
- (4) lack of employment is a significant cause of recidivism, while individuals who are employed are significantly less likely to again engage in criminal activities;
- (5) artificial barriers to employment for people with criminal records are creating permanent members of an underclass that threatens the health of the community and undermines public safety;
- (6) the City of Baltimore, in its own employment practices, has implemented a system of screening for individuals with criminal records that is fair to all concerned; and
- (7) the City has a responsibility to ensure that private employers in the City similarly maintain fair policies for the screening and identification of individuals with criminal records.

(b) *Intent and purpose.*

It is the intent and purpose of this subtitle:

- (1) to assist the successful reintegration back into the community of individuals with criminal records, by removing artificial barriers to gainful employment;
- (2) to enhance the health and security of the community by assisting individuals with criminal records to lawfully provide for their families and themselves; and
- (3) to ensure that just and fair measures are implemented and practiced when pre-screening individuals to identify those who might or might not have criminal records.

(Ord. 14-221.)

§ 15-3. Construction.

(a) *In general.*

- (1) This subtitle shall be construed to promote a policy that gives an individual who has a criminal record, but otherwise meets all criteria for consideration for employment, an opportunity to be judged on his or her own merit when initially applying for employment.
- (2) This subtitle, however, may not be construed to require any employer to hire someone with a criminal record nor to limit an employer's ability to choose the most qualified and appropriate applicant for the employment opportunity at hand.

(b) *Federal, State law on criminal records prevails.*

Nothing in this subtitle may be construed to modify or waive the requirements and limitations of any Federal or State law on access to or the use of criminal records.

(c) *Severability.*

(1) All provisions of this subtitle are severable.

(2) If a court determines that a word, phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph, subsection, section, or other provision is invalid or that the application of any part of the provision to any person or circumstances is invalid, the remaining provisions and the application of those provisions to other persons or circumstances are not affected by that decision.

(Ord. 14-221.)

§§ 15-4 to 15-5. {Reserved}

Part 2. Prohibited Conduct

§ 15-6. Preliminary inquiries into criminal record.

(a) *“Conditional offer” defined.*

In this section, “conditional offer” means an offer that is conditioned solely on:

- (1) the results of the employer’s subsequent inquiring into or gathering information about the applicant’s criminal record; or
- (2) some other contingency expressly communicated to the applicant at the time of the offer.

(b) *Inquiries prohibited before conditional offer.*

In connection with the proposed employment of any applicant, a covered employer may not, at any time before a conditional offer of employment has been extended:

- (1) require the applicant to disclose or reveal whether he or she has a criminal record or otherwise has had criminal accusations brought against her or him;
- (2) conduct a criminal-record check on the applicant; or
- (3) otherwise make any inquiry of the applicant or others about whether the applicant has a criminal record or otherwise has had criminal accusations brought against her or him.

(Ord. 14-221.)

§ 15-7. Exceptions.

(a) *Actions expressly required or authorized by other law.*

This Part 2 does not apply to any inquiry or other action that is required or expressly authorized by an applicable Federal, State, or City law or regulation.

(b) *Facilities servicing minors or vulnerable adults.*

(1) In this subsection, “vulnerable adult” means an adult who lacks the physical or mental capacity to provide for his or her own daily needs.

(2) This Part 2 does not apply to any facility or employer that provides programs, services, or direct care to minors or to vulnerable adults.

(Ord. 14-221.)

§§ 15-8 to 15-10. {Reserved}***Part 3. Administrative Enforcement; Penalties*****§ 15-11. Complaint to Community Relations Commission.**(a) *Complaint authorized.*

(1) Any person aggrieved by an alleged violation of this subtitle may file a complaint with the Baltimore Community Relations Commission.

(2) The complaint shall be filed, investigated, and heard in the same manner as that provided in City Code Article 4 {“Community Relations”}, Subtitle 4 {“Enforcement”}, for alleged violations of that article’s unlawful discriminatory employment practices.

(b) *Decision and order.*

In its decision and order, the Commission may award the aggrieved person:

(1) back pay for lost wages caused by the violation of this subtitle;

(2) reinstatement;

(3) compensatory damages, which may include:

(i) compensation for humiliation, embarrassment, and emotional distress; and

(ii) expenses incurred in seeking other employment; and

(4) reasonable attorney’s fees.

(Ord. 14-221.)

§ 15-12. Judicial and appellate review.(a) *Judicial review.*

A party aggrieved by the final decision of the Community Relations Commission may seek judicial review of that decision by petition to the Circuit Court for Baltimore City in accordance with the Maryland Rules of Procedure.

(b) *Appellate review.*

A party to the judicial review may appeal the court's final judgment to the Court of Special Appeals in accordance with the Maryland Rules of Procedure.
(*Ord. 14-221.*)

§ 15-13. Retaliation or discrimination prohibited.

A covered employer may not take or refuse to take a personnel action or otherwise retaliate or discriminate against any person as a reprisal for the person's having claimed a violation of this subtitle.
(*Ord. 14-221.*)

§§ 15-14 to 15-15. {Reserved}

§ 15-16. Criminal penalties.

Any person who violates any provision of this subtitle is guilty of a misdemeanor and, on conviction, is subject to a fine of not more than \$500 or imprisonment for not more than 90 days or both fine and imprisonment for each offense.
(*Ord. 14-221.*)

SUBTITLE 16
{RESERVED}

SUBTITLE 17
RETALIATION FOR HUMAN TRAFFICKING REPORTS

§ 17-1. Definitions.

(a) *In general.*

In this subtitle, the following terms have the meanings indicated.

(b) *Covered employer.*

“Covered employer” means any person that employs 5 or more full-time equivalent employees in the City of Baltimore.

(c) *Human trafficking.*

“Human trafficking” means:

- (1) sex trafficking in which a commercial sex act is induced by force, fraud, or coercion, or in which the person induced to perform a commercial sex act has not attained 18 years of age; or
- (2) the recruitment, harboring, transportation, provision, or obtaining of a person for labor or services, through the use of force, fraud, or coercion for the purpose of subjection to involuntary servitude, peonage, debt bondage, or slavery.

(d) *Person.*

(1) *In general.*

“Person” means:

- (i) an individual;
- (ii) a receiver, trustee, guardian, personal representative, fiduciary, or representative of any kind; or
- (iii) a partnership, firm, association, corporation, or other entity of any kind.

(2) *Exclusions.*

“Person” does not include a governmental entity or an instrumentality or unit of a governmental entity.

(*Ord. 15-359; Ord. 16-503.*)

§ 17-2. {Reserved}

§ 17-3. Retaliation or discrimination prohibited.

A covered employer may not take or refuse to take a personnel action or otherwise retaliate or discriminate against any person as a reprisal for the person's having made a good-faith report of a suspected act of human trafficking to that person's employer or any appropriate agency.
(*Ord. 15-359.*)

§§ 17-4 to 17-5. {Reserved}**§ 17-6. Criminal penalties.**

Any person who violates any provision of this subtitle is guilty of a misdemeanor and, on conviction, is subject to a fine of not more than \$1,000 or imprisonment for not more than 90 days or both fine and imprisonment for each offense.
(*Ord. 15-359.*)

{PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK}

SUBTITLE 18
DISPLACED SERVICE WORKERS PROTECTION.

§ 18-1. Definitions.

(a) *In general.*

In this subtitle, the following terms have the meanings indicated.

(b) *Affected employee.*

“Affected employee” means a service employee performing work for an entity that is being, or has been, terminated as a service provider and is being replaced with a successor entity performing similar services at the same site.

(c) *Awarding authority.*

(1) *In general.*

“Awarding authority” means any person that awards or enters into a service contract or subcontract with a contractor to be performed in the City.

(2) *Inclusion of City, other governmental units.*

“Awarding authority” includes the City of Baltimore and any governmental unit, agency, or other entity as to which the City has the power to legislate.

(d) *Contractor.*

“Contractor” means any person, including a subcontractor, that:

- (1) enters into a service contract to perform work in the City; and
- (2) employs more than 20 employees.

(e) *Commission.*

“Commission” means the Wage Commission established by § 2-1 {“Commission established”} of this article, or the Commission’s designee.

(f) *Person.*

“Person” means:

- (1) an individual;
- (2) a partnership, firm, association, corporation, LLC, or other entity of any kind; or
- (3) a receiver, trustee, guardian, personal representative, fiduciary, or representative of any kind.

(g) *Service contract.*

“Service contract” means a contract between an awarding authority and a contractor to provide security, janitorial, building maintenance, or food preparation in a facility located in the City that is used as a:

- (1) private elementary or secondary school;
- (2) public or private college or university;
- (3) convention, sports, or entertainment institution, such as a museum, casino, convention center, arena, stadium, or music hall;
- (4) multi-family residential building or complex with more than 30 units;
- (5) commercial building or office building occupying more than 50,000 square feet;
- (6) industrial facility, such as a pharmaceutical laboratory, research and development facility, or product fabrication facility; or
- (7) distribution center.

(h) *Service employee.*

(1) “Service employee” means an individual employed on a full- or part-time basis as a:

- (i) building service employee, including a janitor, security officer, groundskeeper, concierge, door staffer, maintenance technician, handyman, superintendent, elevator operator, window cleaner, or building engineer; or
- (ii) food service worker, including a cafeteria attendant, line attendant, cook, butcher, baker, server, cashier, catering worker, dining attendant, dishwasher, or merchandise vendor.

(2) “Service employee” does not include:

- (i) a managerial or confidential employee; or
- (ii) an employee who works in an executive, administrative, or professional capacity.

(i) *Successor entity.*

“Successor entity” means an entity that:

- (1) is awarded a service contract to provide, in whole or in part, services that are substantially similar to those provided to the awarding authority at any time during the previous 90 days;
- (2) has purchased or acquired control of a property located in the City where service employees were employed at any time during the previous 90 days; or

- (3) terminates a service contract and, within 90 days of the termination, hires service employees as its direct employees to perform services that are substantially similar to those provided under the terminated service contract.

(Ord. 17-028.)

§ 18-2. Rules and regulations.

- (a) *Commission to adopt.*

The Commission may adopt rules and regulations to implement this subtitle.

- (b) *Filing with Legislative Reference.*

A copy of all rules and regulations adopted under this subtitle must be filed with the Department of Legislative Reference before they become effective.

(Ord. 17-028.)

§ 18-3. Transition employment period.

- (a) *Awarding authority responsibilities.*

At least 15 days before a service contract is terminated, an awarding authority must:

- (1) request that the terminated contractor provide the awarding authority a complete list of the name, date of hire, and job classification of each affected employee;
- (2) give the successor entity a complete list of the name, date of hire, and job classification of each affected employee; and
- (3) except in the case of a service contract at a facility used as a public university, ensure that a written notice to all affected employees describing the pending termination of the service contract and the employee rights provided by this subtitle is conspicuously posted at any affected work site.

- (b) *Successor entity responsibilities.*

- (1) Subject to paragraph (3) of this subsection, the successor entity must offer to retain, and, if the offer is accepted, actually retain, each affected employee at an affected site for 90 days or until the successor entity no longer provides services at the covered location, whichever is earlier.
- (2) No less than 10 days before it commences work at an affected site, the successor entity must give each affected employee a written offer of employment for the 90-day transition period and send a copy to the employee's collective bargaining representative, if any. Each offer must:
 - (i) allow the employee at least 10 days after receiving the notice to accept the offer; and
 - (ii) state the date by which the affected employee must accept the offer.

(3) A successor entity may retain less than all of the affected employees during the 90-day transition period if the successor entity:

- (i) finds that fewer service employees are required to perform the work than the terminated contractor had employed;
- (ii) retains service employees by seniority within each job classification;
- (iii) maintains a preferential hiring list of those employees not retained; and
- (iv) hires any additional service employees from the list, in order of seniority, until all affected service employees have been offered employment.

(4) At the end of the 90-day transition employment period, the successor entity must perform a written performance evaluation for each employee retained pursuant to this section. If the employee's performance during the 90-day transition employment period is satisfactory, the successor entity must offer the employee continued employment under the terms and conditions established by the successor entity.

(5) During the 90-day transition period, the successor entity may not discharge a service employee retained under this section without just cause.

(Ord. 17-028.)

§ 18-4. {Reserved}

§ 18-5. Subtitle not bar to contract termination.

This subtitle does not limit the ability of an awarding authority to terminate a service contract or replace a contractor with another contractor.

(Ord. 17-028.)

§ 18-6. Retaliation against employees prohibited.

(a) *In general.*

An employer may not discharge or reduce the compensation of any employee for:

- (1) making a complaint to the Commission alleging a violation of this subtitle; or
- (2) participating in any of the Commission's proceedings concerning an alleged violation of this subtitle.

(b) *Remedial action for violation.*

If the Commission finds that an employer has violated subsection (a) of this section it may, pursuant to the procedures provided in § 18-7 {"Enforcement procedures"}, order appropriate restitution or the reinstatement of the employee with backpay to the date of the violation.

(Ord. 17-028.)

§ 18-7. Enforcement procedures.*(a) Filing complaints.*

Any person subjected to a practice in violation of this subtitle, or any group or person seeking to enforce this subtitle, may file a written complaint with the Commission.

(b) Complaint requirements.

A complaint filed under this section must:

- (1) be filed within 1 year of the alleged violation;
- (2) be filed under oath; and
- (3) include:
 - (i) the particulars of the alleged violation;
 - (ii) the name and address of the person alleged to have committed the violation; and
 - (iii) any other information required by the Commission.

(c) Complaints by Commission.

The Commission may, acting on its own initiative and without any complaint from an employee, file a complaint against an employer whenever the Commission has reasonable cause to believe that the employer is or has been in violation of this subtitle.

(d) Investigation for probable cause.

After the filing of a complaint, either by a person claiming to be aggrieved as set forth above or by the Commission, the Commission must:

- (1) investigate the facts alleged in the complaint; and
- (2) make a finding of probable cause or lack of probable cause for the complaint.

(e) Subpoenas; oaths.

(1) In enforcing this subtitle, the Commission may:

- (i) issue subpoenas to compel the attendance and testimony of witnesses and the production of books, papers, records, and documents relating to payroll records, or otherwise necessary for hearings, investigations, or proceedings; and
- (ii) administer oaths, subject to the penalties for perjury, to all witnesses.

(2) Any subpoena issued under this subsection shall be served by:

- (i) the Sheriff of Baltimore City or any of the Sheriff's deputies; or
- (ii) any other person authorized by the Maryland Rules of Procedure to effectuate in personam service.

(f) *Subpoena enforcement.*

- (1) In case of disobedience to a subpoena, the Commission may apply to a court of appropriate jurisdiction for an order requiring the attendance and testimony of witnesses and the production of books, papers, records, and documents.
- (2) The court, in case of contumacy or refusal to obey any subpoena issued under this section, after notice to the person subpoenaed, and upon finding that the attendance or testimony of the witnesses or the production of the books, papers, records, and documents, as the case may be, is relevant or necessary for a hearing, investigation, or proceeding of the Commission, may issue an order requiring the attendance and testimony of the sought witnesses and the production of the sought books, papers, records, and documents, or any of them.
- (3) Any failure to obey such order of the court may be punished by the court as contempt thereof.

(g) *Dismissal for lack of probable cause.*

If the Commission finds that the complaint lacks probable cause, then it must dismiss the complaint and mail copies of its finding to the respondent and complainant.

(h) *Probable cause conference; settlement agreement.*

- (1) If the Commission finds probable cause for the complaint, the Commission must attempt, by means of conference, to:
 - (i) persuade the respondent to cease and desist its illegal action;
 - (ii) reinstate any affected employees to their former positions under the conditions required by §18-3(b) {"Transition employment period: Successor entity responsibilities"} of this subtitle; and
 - (iii) pay any affected employees all wages and other compensation owed for the period of time that they were unlawfully terminated, as provided in §18-8 {"Penalties and fines"} of this subtitle.
- (2) Any agreement reached between the respondent and the Commission must be reduced to writing and a copy of the agreement must be furnished to the complainant and the respondent.

(i) *Final order.*

- (1) The Commission may issue a final order on its own motion if:

- (i) the Commission and the respondent fail to reach an agreement within 30 days of the date set for the probable cause conference, or
 - (ii) the respondent fails to meet its obligations under an agreement with the Commission within the time specified in the agreement.
- (2) A final order issued under this subsection may:
- (i) require the reinstatement of the service employee or employees wrongfully terminated in violation of §18-3(b) {"Transition employment period: Successor entity responsibilities"} of this subtitle;
 - (ii) require the respondent to pay each service employee wrongfully terminated in violation of §18-3(b) {"Transition employment period: Successor entity responsibilities"} of this subtitle his or her lost wages and other compensation to the date of the violation, as provided in §18-8 {"Penalties and fines"} of this subtitle; and
 - (iii) direct the cessation of all practices by the respondent which are contrary to the provisions of this subtitle or the rules and regulations of the Commission.
- (3) A copy of an order issued under this subtitle must be furnished to the respondent by registered mail within 3 days of its issuance.

(j) *Judicial and appellate review.*

- (1) A respondent aggrieved by an order of the Commission may seek judicial review of that order by petition to the Circuit Court for Baltimore City in accordance with the Maryland Rules of Procedure.
- (2) A party to the judicial review may appeal the court's final judgment to the Court of Special Appeals in accordance with the Maryland Rules of Procedure.

(k) *Referral to Solicitor.*

If, within 30 days of the issuance of a final order under subsection (i) of this section, the respondent has failed to comply with the order, the Commission may certify the proceedings to the City Solicitor and request that the Solicitor petition the Circuit Court of Baltimore City to enforce the order.

(Ord. 17-028.)

§ 18-8. Penalties and fines.

(a) *In general.*

The Commission may order any contractor or successor entity who commits a violation of this subtitle to:

- (1) pay to the employee or employees impacted the wages and other compensation lost as a result of the contractor's violation of §18-3, with interest computed at 10% per annum on wages and other monetary compensation due; and
- (2) reinstate an employee or employees under the conditions required by §18-3(b) {"Transition employment period: Successor entity responsibilities"} of this subtitle.

(b) *Fines.*

- (1) Any successor entity that violates this subtitle shall forfeit and pay to the City of Baltimore a penalty as follows:
 - (i) for a 1st offense, \$250 for each violation;
 - (ii) for a 2nd offense, \$500 for each violation; and
 - (iii) for each subsequent offense, \$1,000 for each violation.

(2) Each day that a violation continues constitutes a separate offense.
(*Ord. 17-028.*)

§ 18-9. Severability.

All provisions of this subtitle are severable. If a court determines that a word, phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph, subsection, section, or other provision is invalid or that the application of any part of the provision to any person or circumstances is invalid, the remaining provisions and the application of those provisions to other persons or circumstances are not affected by that decision.
(*Ord. 17-028.*)